Florida National Register Review Board
R.A. Gray Building, Room 307
Tallahassee, Florida
August 8, 2024
Meeting Minutes

Board Members Present In-Person: Rick Gonzalez (chair), Kathleen Kauffman (vice chair), and
Dr. Judith Bense.

Board Members Present Via Webinar: Dr. J. Michael Francis

Board Members Absent: Dr. Clifford Smith.

Florida Department of State Officials and Staff Present In-Person: Ruben A. Acosta, Chief,
Bureau of Historic Preservation; Dr. Kyra Lucas, Supervisor, Survey and Registration; Andrew
Waber, Historian; Sam Schmidt, Historic Preservationist; Anthony Mendez, Historic
Preservationist; Jeremy Heiker, State Historical Marker Coordinator; Alexa Wilson, Grants
Specialist; Harley Burgis, Grants Specialist; and Olivia Wichowski, Grants Specialist.

Florida Department of State Officials and Staff Present Via Webinar: Dr. Angela Tomlinson,
Deputy Director, Historical Resources.

Guests Present In-Person: none.

Guests Present Via Webinar: Clarissa Carr, Lakeshore Towers nomination author; William
Stanton, Florida State Parks representative for Torreya State Park; Meghan Browning, Abbott
Tract nomination author; Julie Courtney, City of St. Augustine Certified Local Government
Coordinator; Dr. Leslee Keys, St. Johns County citizen; Candice Seymour, Abbott Tract
supporter; Blake Plumley, Henry S. O’Brien Estate owner; Paul Weaver, Henry S. O’Brien Estate
nomination author; Michael Blackburn; The Florida Channel.

I.  Call to Order and Roll Call:
Mr. Rick Gonzalez called the meeting to order at 1:30 pm. Dr. Kyra Lucas called the roll and
confirmed quorum.

II.  Introduction of Board, Staff and Guests:
Mr. Gonzalez asked that the Board, staff and guests introduce themselves. Mr. Jeremy Heiker
read the names of all staff and guests attending via webinar.

III.  Adoption of Agenda:
Mr. Gonzalez called for a motion to adopt the agenda. Ms. Kathleen Kauffman moved to
adopt. Dr. Judith Bense seconded. The Board approved the agenda unanimously.

IV. Remarks by Chairperson on Purpose of Meeting:

Mr. Gonzalez shared news from the Florida Historical Commission meeting and thanked
staff and colleagues.



VL

VIL

Approval of Minutes from the May 2., 2024, Meeting:

Mr. Gonzalez called for a motion. Ms. Kauffman moved to approve the minutes from the
May 2024 National Register Review Board Meeting. Dr. Bense seconded. The Board
approved the meeting minutes unanimously.

Director’s Comments:
Mr. Ruben Acosta, on behalf of Director Alissa Lotane, expressed gratitude to the Board and
staff for their attendance and continued service to Florida’s historic resources.

Review of Nomination Proposals:

Before beginning staff comments, Dr. Lucas explained that two of the presentations were for
new nominations and three were for updates to previously listed nominations. She explained
the procedural differences between new and updated nominations.

A. Lakeshore Towers, Alachua County
Dr. Lucas presented staff comments with a visual presentation.

Staff recommended that the Board forward the nomination for Lakeshore Towers to the
National Park Service with a recommendation for listing in the National Register of Historic
Places under Criterion C: Architecture at the local level with a period of significance of 1965.

Mr. Gonzalez requested additional information about the alterations to the building. He
expressed concerns that vinyl window replacements were an inappropriate material, and that
the addition of new rear windows was incompatible with the building’s original design. Dr.
Lucas explained that the architect, Harry Merritt, is important locally and that this building is
the largest of his designs. She explained that local building codes required new windows be
impact resistant and the significance of the retention of the original fenestration patterns,
which was central to Merritt’s designs. Ms. Clarissa Carr elaborated on how the building
retains its historic integrity, noting the retention of original floor plans and spatial
arrangements, and extensive original materials. She explained that while the vinyl is
different, the retention of the viewsheds and cross-breezes is a significant design element.

Mr. Gonzalez expressed that Secretary of the Interior standards do not allow vinyl windows
and expressed concerns about establishing a precedent for incompatible non-historic
materials during restoration projects. Mr. Acosta noted the Board should only examine the
building in its current state. He explained that materials are only one aspect of integrity and
that the Board should consider if the building retains enough integrity overall to convey its
historic significance. Mr. Gonzalez suggested National Park Service may take issue with the
vinyl. Mr. Acosta explained that the latest guidance from National Park Service is more
sympathetic to the need to reconcile modern building codes with historic preservation and so,
is more lenient on the use of vinyl, on a case-by-case basis.

Ms. Kauffman explained that the Gainesville Historic Preservation Board recently approved
vinyl window replacements for a similar building. Mr. Gonzalez asked if the Gainesville

2



Historic Preservation Board reviewed the window replacements on this building. Ms.
Kauffman explained that since the building is not listed locally or nationally, it is not subject
to Certificate of Appropriateness review.

Mr. Acosta asked if Ms. Kauffman intended to recuse herself as Gainesville’s Certified Local
Government coordinator. Ms. Kauffman requested input from fellow Board members. Mr.
Gonzalez, Dr. Bense, and Dr. Michael Francis all agreed that since Ms. Kauffman had no
financial interest in the building that she should be allowed to vote.

Mr. Gonzalez solicited public comment. The public made no comments.

Mr. Gonzalez called for a motion. Dr. Francis moved to forward the nomination for
Lakeshore Towers to the National Park Service with a recommendation for listing in the
National Register of Historic Places under Criterion C: Architecture at the local level
with a period of significance of 1965. Ms. Kauffman seconded. Mr. Gonzalez voted
against the motion. Dr. Bense voted in favor of the motion. The motion passed three to
one.

Mr. Gonzalez clarified that he voted against the motion because in his opinion the
unsympathetic renovations negatively impacted the building’s historic integrity, not because
Merritt’s architectural work lacks significance.

B. El Circulo Cubano de Tampa (Cuban Club) Additional Documentation,
Hillsborough County

Dr. Lucas presented staff comments with a visual presentation.

Staff recommended that the Board forward this additional documentation to update the areas
of significance, period of significance, additional contributing resources, and boundary for
the Cuban Club to the National Park Service with a recommendation to update the listing in
the National Register of Historic Places.

Ms. Kauffman requested more information about why the nomination needed updating. Ms.
Sam Schmidt explained that the original nomination did not include clearly delineated
boundaries or adequately capture the historic significance of the organization. She noted that
the physical and photographic descriptions did not address historic alterations and that
alterations since its initial listing needed to be recorded.

Mr. Gonzalez asked how the construction of the highway impacted the building. Dr. Lucas
explained the nomination does not address the interstate because it was constructed after the
period of significance. Ms. Schmidt provided additional information on alterations to
windows and doors and the organization’s plans for future preservation work.

Mr. Gonzalez solicited public comment. The public made no comments.

Mr. Gonzalez called for a motion. Ms. Kauffman moved to forward this additional
documentation to update the areas of significance, period of significance, additional

3



contributing resources, and boundary for the Cuban Club to the National Park Service
with a recommendation to update the listing in the National Register of Historic Places.
Dr. Bense seconded. The motion passed unanimously.

C. Torreya State Park Additional Documentation and Boundary Expansion, Liberty
County

Dr. Lucas presented staff comments with a visual presentation.

Staff recommended that the Board forward this additional documentation and boundary
expansion to update the areas of significance under Criterion A to include
Entertainment/Recreation and Conservation at the state and local levels and Social History
and Ethnic Heritage: Black at the local level; Criterion C at the local level for the New Deal-
era Architecture and Landscape Architecture; and Criterion D at the local level for Military.
Staft recommended that the Board accept the expanded/clarified periods of significance of c.
1849, c. 1863-c. 1865, and 1935-1974. Staff also recommended that the Board approve the
updated resource count of the district as well as the expanded/clarified historic district
boundary, which encompasses the pre-1974 extent of state park operations.

Mr. Gonzalez requested clarification about the boundaries of the historic district in relation to
the river and state park boundaries. Mr. Andrew Waber explained the district boundaries
encompass the entire historic section of the park and the land between the district and the
river was acquired by the park after the period of significance. Ms. Schmidt explained that
the state park’s modern conservation lands are far more extensive than the historic park.

Dr. Bense inquired why the cemetery is not being listed as a contributing resource and about
any prior archeological studies of the site. Mr. Waber explained that there have been no
formal studies of the site and that the age and size of the cemetery and identities of those
interred there are unknown. He noted that the nomination explains that while the site appears
to be eligible, more research is needed to justify listing, which could be done through a future
amendment.

Mr. Gonzalez solicited public comment. Mr. William Stanton thanked Mr. Waber for his hard
work and research. He stated that the updated nomination is a much better reflection of the
park’s rich history and that it will improve future interpretive services for park guests.

Mr. Gonzalez called for a motion. Dr. Bense moved to forward this additional
documentation to update the areas of significance, period of significance, additional
contributing resources, and boundary for Torreya State Park to the National Park
Service with a recommendation to update the listing in the National Register of Historic
Places. Dr. Francis seconded. The motion passed unanimously.



D. Abbott Tract Historic District Additional Documentation, St. Johns County
Dr. Lucas presented staff comments with a visual presentation.

Staft recommended that the Board forward this additional documentation to update the areas
of significance, period of significance, and resource count for the Abbott Tract Historic
District to the National Park Service with a recommendation to update the listing in the
National Register of Historic Places.

Dr. Bense inquired about Lucy Abbott’s role as the developer of the community, and if there
are any other historic properties associated with her. Ms. Schmidt explained that Abbott is
widely acknowledged as the developer of the neighborhood, but that extensive research has
revealed little about her life beyond that fact. She noted that there is no record of Abbott
developing elsewhere and that, if there were any other associated properties, they would be in
Abbott’s first home in South Carolina. Dr. Bense noted that if a South Carolina property does
exist, it would be associated with Abbott’s family, not her professional career. Dr. Lucas
noted that Abbott conducted her real estate dealings from her home in the district.

Mr. Gonzalez inquired about an addition to Castle Warden. Ms. Schmidt clarified that while
it appears to be an addition, the later development is a fully independent building and that the
two are listed as one contributing building and one noncontributing building, as they were in
the original nomination.

Mr. Gonzalez solicited public comment. Dr. Leslee Keys shared some additional history
about the community, including several prominent residents, and noted that she shared
historical documentation of the district with the City of St. Augustine. Dr. Bense asked if
these documents had been shared with staff. Ms. Schmidt stated they had not. Ms. Julie
Courtney expressed gratitude to staff and the consultants for their work and explained that
the public expressed great support for this update at a recent public meeting.

Mr. Gonzalez called for a motion. Ms. Kauffman moved to forward this additional
documentation to update the areas of significance, period of significance, and resource
count for the Abbott Tract Historic District to the National Park Service with a
recommendation to update the listing in the National Register of Historic Places. Dr
Bense seconded. The motion passed unanimously.

E. Henry S. O’Brien Estate, St. Johns County
Dr. Lucas presented staff comments with a visual presentation.

Staft recommended that the Board forward the nomination for the Henry S. O’Brien House to
the National Park Service with a recommendation for listing in the National Register of
Historic Places under Criterion A: Exploration and Settlement and Social History - Disability
History, and Criterion C: Architecture at the local level of significance from 1885 to 1945.



VIIL.

IX.

Mr. Gonzalez commented on the difficulty of the construction technique and the finesse of
the building’s design. The Board and staff all agreed it was a beautiful and beautifully
preserved building.

Mr. Gonzalez solicited public comment. Mr. Blake Plumley expressed excitement about
getting the building listed and explained future plans for a preservation easement and
opening the house to the public for tours. He noted that a lot of the trim work was built in
while the concrete walls were poured and that they found letters hidden in the walls during a
renovation. Mr. Waber elaborated on the building’s history and importance in relation to the
Deaf community, as the only home for elderly Deaf people in the Southeast. Dr. Bense asked
why the nomination did not pursue state level listing. Dr. Lucas noted staff lacked the
resources to provide NPS with the necessary context to support state-level listing. Dr. Keys
explained that the O’Brien Estate was constructed around the same time as Flagler’s poured
concrete hotel and that she was thrilled to see the building nominated.

Mr. Gonzalez called for a motion. Ms. Kauffman moved to forward the nomination for
the Henry S. O’Brien House to the National Park Service with a recommendation for
listing in the National Register of Historic Places under Criterion A: Exploration and
Settlement and Social History - Disability History, and Criterion C: Architecture at the
local level of significance from 1885 to 1945. Dr. Bense seconded. The motion passed
unanimously.

Other Business:

Mr. Gonzalez asked if there was other business. Dr. Lucas updated the Board on the status of
nominations previously sent to the National Park Service and ongoing staff projects.

Public Comment:

Mr. Gonzalez opened the floor to public comment. The public made no comments.

Motion to Adjourn:

Ms. Gonzalez motioned to adjourn. Ms. Kauffman seconded. The meeting adjourned at
3:48 pm.

Chair, NR Review Board:

Date:

State Historic Preservation Officer:

Date:




